Case No. S252473

SUPREME COURT FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

FEB 2 8 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

In re CLIFFORD ALLEN BRACE, JR.

9th Cir. Case No. 17-60032

Deputy

STEVEN SPEIER, CHAPTER 7 TRUSTEE,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

CLIFFORD BRACE, JR. AND AHN BRACE,

Defendants and Petitioners.

After a request made pursuant to California Rules of Court, Rule 8.548, for this Court to decide questions of California Law presented in a matter pending in the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUE FOR CERTIFICATION

By Order entered by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal on November 8, 2008 in Case number 17-60032, (the "Ninth Circuit Appeal") and pursuant to California Rules of Court 8.548, the Ninth Circuit requested that this Court decide a certified question of law which will be dispositive of the Ninth Circuit Appeal. That question for certification is as follows:

Does the form of title presumption set forth in Section 662 of the California Evidence Code overcome the community property presumption set forth in section 760 of the California Family Code in Chapter 7 bankruptcy cases where: (1) the debtor husband and non-debtor wife acquired property from a third party as joint tenants; (2) the deed to that property conveys the property at issue to the debtor husband and non-debtor wife as joint tenants; and (3) the interests of the debtor and non-debtor spouse are aligned against the trustee of the bankruptcy estate?

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Bankruptcy Adversary Case

The Debtor Clifford Brace ("Appellant" or "Debtor") filed a voluntary petition under the Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code on May 16, 2011 (Appellant's Appendix/Excerpts of Record ("Appx"). D, 40:11-12; Appx E, 62-64). On December 15, 2011, Robert

Goodrich, the Chapter 7 Trustee ("Trustee") filed an adversary proceeding against the Debtor and his non-debtor spouse Ahn Brace. ("Appellant" or "Mrs. Brace") (Appx D, 41:13-17; Appx E, 62-64). The Debtor and Mrs. Brace filed an answer to the adversary complaint on January 12, 2012 (Appx B, 21-34). By order entered on December 19, 2014, the adversary proceeding was bifurcated for trial (Appx C, 35-37). On February 4, 2015 the bankruptcy court entered an order approving the pre-trial stipulation of the parties (the "JPTO") (Appx E, 62-64).

On May 11, 2015, the bankruptcy court held a trial on the issues contained in the First through Seventh claims for relief in the adversary complaint (Appx C, 35-37; Appx FF, 766-902). Trial commenced on May 11, 2015 (Appx FF, 766-902). At the close of evidence on that date, the bankruptcy court continued the trial to July 23, 2015 (Appx FF, 881:21-24). The bankruptcy court directed the parties to submit written post-trial briefs in accordance with a schedule (Appx FF, 882-83). On July 23, 2015 the bankruptcy court reconvened and the court gave an oral ruling in which it recited its findings of fact and conclusions of law (Appx GG, 903-948).

The bankruptcy court found, based upon a variety of factors, that the transfers to the Crescent Trust were avoidable as fraudulent transfers pursuant to California Civil Code ("CCC") Section 3439.04(a)(1) as intentional fraudulent transfers in that they were made by the Debtor with the actual intent to hinder, delay or defraud a creditor of the debtor (Appx GG, 922:7-12).

The bankruptcy judge entered a judgment on September 25, 2015 ("Judgment") (Appx Z, 652-57). The Judgment provided, *inter alia*, that on Appellee's claim for declaratory relief, the Redlands, San Bernardino and Mohave Properties are property of the estate, and that the San Bernardino and Redlands Properties are "community property and property of the estate" (Appx Z, 654:5-17). Thereafter, on October 10, 2015 the Appellants filed a motion to reconsider and amend the judgment with regards that portion of the judgment which determined the Redlands and San Bernardino Properties to be community property and property of the estate in their entirety (Appx AA, 658-721).

At the hearing on the Appellant's motion to reconsider and amend the judgment held on December 10, 2015 the bankruptcy court

granted in part and denied in part the motion to reconsider and amend the judgment (Appx II, 1009:3-25). For reasons stated on the record on December 10, 2015, the bankruptcy court reaffirmed that portion of the judgment determining that the San Bernardino and Redlands properties, were community property and property of the estate and additionally finding that the Mohave property was also community property and property of the estate (Appx DD, 752-53).

The bankruptcy court entered an Amended Judgment on February 16, 2016 (the "Amended Judgment") in which it found that although the Redlands, San Bernardino and Mohave properties were returned to joint tenancy as a result of its rulings, such properties nonetheless presumptively constitute community property under applicable California law, and specifically the decision of this Court in the matter of *In re: Marriage of Valli* 59 Cal. 4th 1396; 171 Cal Rptr 3d 454 (2014) that Appellants had "failed to establish that [these properties] were not community in nature and, therefore, they constitute property of the estate pursuant to 11 U.S.C. Section 541 and are subject to administration by the Estate (Appx DD, 754:6-12).

B. Appeal to Ninth Circuit Bankruptcy Appellate Panel

Appellant filed an appeal of the Amended Judgment, which was referred to the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel for the Ninth Circuit. (The "BAP"). After submission of briefs and oral argument, the BAP filed its decision on March 15, 2017. That decision was certified for publication by the BAP as 566 B.R. 13 (BAP 2017).

In its decision, the BAP framed the issue before it as follows: In this appeal, we are concerned with two California presumptions affecting determinations of the ownership of property. The first is Cal. Evid. Code Section 662 (the 'record title presumption') which provides generally that '[t]he owner of legal title to property is presumed to be the owner of the full beneficial title. This presumption may be rebutted only by clear and convincing evidence.

The second is CFC § 760 (the "community property presumption"), which provides, "except as otherwise provided by statute, all property, real or personal, wherever situated, acquired by a married person during the marriage while domiciled in this state is community property."

The court in *Brace v Speier* (*In re Brace*), *supra*, goes on to find that the general presumption of the community nature of all property acquired by spouses during marriage under CFC 760, applies in all contexts both inside of a dissolution proceeding and in actions between third parties and even overrides the specific provisions relating to joint tenancy property under CFC 2581. *Brace*, 566 B.R. at 18.

C. Appeal to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal

Appellants filed an appeal of the decision of the BAP to the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeal. After submission of briefs by Appellants and Appellee and after oral argument on the matter, the Ninth Circuit issued its Order of Certification requesting that this Court answer the question of California Law stated above.

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants incorporate by reference the Statement of
Undisputed Facts contained in the Joint Pretrial Stipulation approved
by an order entered on February 4, 2015. (Appx D, 40-47; Appx E,
62-64)

IV. ARGUMENT

A. <u>Bankruptcy Law</u>

Section 541 of Title 11 of the U.S. Code provides in relevant part that:

The commencement of a case under section 301, 302, or 303 of this title [11 USCS § 301, 302, or 303] creates an estate. Such estate is comprised of all the following property, wherever located and by whomever held:

- (1) Except as provided in subsections (b) and (c)(2) of this section, all legal or equitable interests of the debtor in property as of the commencement of the case.
- (2) All interests of the debtor and the debtor's spouse in

community property as of the commencement of the case that is--

- (A) under the sole, equal, or joint management and control of the debtor; or
- (B) liable for an allowable claim against the debtor, or for both an allowable claim against the debtor and an allowable claim against the debtor's spouse, to the extent that such interest is so liable.

Federal Courts in the Ninth Circuit have consistently held that the determination of what property is properly classified as community property under this section is determined by state law. The proposition was stated by the BAP in the *Brace* decision as follows:

We look to relevant non-bankruptcy law to determine the nature and extent of a debtor's interest in property. Butner v. United States, 440 U.S. 48, 55, 99 S. Ct. 914, 59 L. Ed. 2d 136 (1979); Hanf v. Summers (In re Summers), 332 F.3d 1240, 1242 (9th Cir. 2003).

Brace, 566 B.R. at 18.

Thus, the Ninth Circuit has turned to this Court for its assistance in making the determination of the nature of the properties at issue in this case.

B. <u>California Law on Joint Tenancy</u>

California Civil Code section 683 provides in relevant part that:

(a) A joint interest is one owned by two or more persons in

equal shares, by a title created by a single will or transfer, when expressly declared in the will or transfer to be a joint tenancy, or by transfer from a sole owner to himself or herself and others, or from tenants in common or joint tenants to themselves or some of them, or to themselves or any of them and others, or from spouses, when holding title as community property or otherwise to themselves or to themselves and others or to one of them and to another or others, when expressly declared in the transfer to be a joint tenancy, or when granted or devised to executors or trustees as joint tenants. A joint tenancy in personal property may be created by a written transfer, instrument, or agreement.

This court has recognized that the statutory establishment of joint tenancy by express declaration,

does not abrogate the common law rule that four unities are essential to an estate in joint tenancy: unity of interest, unity of time, unity of title and unity of possession. (Citations) (*Tenhet v. Boswell*, 18 Cal. 3d 150, 155, 554 P.2d 330, 334, 133 Cal. Rptr. 10, 14)

and further that:

The requirement of four unities reflects the basic concept that there is but one estate which is taken jointly; if an essential unity is destroyed the joint tenancy is severed and a tenancy in common results. (Swartzbaugh v. Sampson (1936) 11 Cal.App.2d 451, 454 [54 P.2d 73]; 2 Am. Law of Prop. (1952) § 6.2, p. 9.) Accordingly, one of two joint tenants may unilaterally terminate the joint tenancy by conveying his interest to a third person. (Delanoy v. Delanoy (1932) 216 Cal. 23, 26 [13 P.2d 513]; Green v. Skinner (1921) 185 Cal. 435, 438 [197 P. 60].) CA(3) (3) Severance of the joint tenancy, of course, extinguishes the principal feature of that estate -- the jus accrescendi or right of survivorship. Tenhet v. Boswell, supra at p. 156

This Court has consistently recognized the right of co-owners to choose to take and hold title as joint tenants for a variety of factors besides the right of survivorship thereby avoiding probate upon the death of one joint tenant (*Estate of England* (1991) 233 Cal. App. 3d, 1,4; 284 Cal. Rptr. 361, 364), protection of separate interests from creditors of one cotenant, *Grothe v Courtlandt Corp*. (1992) 11 Cal. App. 4th 1313; 15 Cal. Rptr. 2d 1992) and taxation incidents upon the passing of one joint tenant. (*Benson v. Marin County Assessment Appeals Board*. (2013) 219 Cal App. 4th 1445; 162 Cal. Rptr. 3d 498)

C. <u>Joint Tenancy Between Spouses</u>

It is clear that spouses can hold property as joint tenants in California. In addition to the general principles of allowing co-owners of property to hold title in joint tenancy, California specifically allows married persons to hold title in that manner as well. California Family Code Section 750 provides that "spouses may hold property as joint tenants or tenants in common, or as community property, or as community property with a right of survivorship."

What is less clear is the related presumptions and extent of rebuttal evidence which is required to either establish or dispute the

community nature of a spouse's interest in joint tenancy property under varying circumstances. In this Court's decision in *In re: Marriage of Heikes*, 10 Cal. 4th 1214 (1995), the Court provided a history of the development of the law in California relative to the determination of whether property taken by spouses during marriage in joint tenancy should be determined to be community property in a subsequent dissolution proceeding between the spouses. In this regard, it stated that:

Until modified by statute in 1965, there was a rebuttable presumption that the ownership interest in property was as stated in the title to it. [Citations.] Thus a residence purchased with community funds, but held by a husband and wife as joint tenants, was presumed to be separate property in which each spouse had a half interest. [Citation.] The presumption arising from the form of title could be overcome by evidence of an agreement or understanding between the parties that the interests were to be otherwise. [10 Cal. 4th 1216] [Citations.]" (In re Marriage of Lucas, supra, 27 Cal. 3d 808, 813 (hereafter Lucas).)

The presumption arising from the form of title created difficulties upon divorce or separation when a court saw fit to award a house held in joint tenancy to one spouse for use as a family residence. (*Lucas*, supra, 27 Cal.3d at pp. 813-814.) Legislation intended to overcome those difficulties was added to former Civil Code section 164 in 1965 (Stats. 1965, ch. 1710, § 1, pp. 3843-3844), and its substance was moved in 1969 to former Civil Code section 5110 (hereafter section 5110) as part of the Family Law Act. (Stats. 1969, ch. 1608, § 8, p. 3339; see *In re Marriage of Hilke*, supra, 4 Cal. 4th 215, 219; *Lucas*,

supra, 27 Cal.3d at p. 814.) Section 5110 provided in pertinent part: "[W]hen a single family residence of a husband and wife is acquired by them during marriage as joint tenants, for the purpose of the division of such property upon dissolution of marriage or legal separation only, the presumption is that such single family residence is the community property of said husband and wife." (Stats. 1969, ch. 1608, § 8, p. 3339.)

The substance of section 5110's provision was again moved, in 1983, to the then new section 4800.1, where it was enlarged in two respects. First, the presumption that joint tenancy property acquired during marriage is community property was extended to all kinds of property, not just single-family residences. Second, the presumption could be rebutted only by a statement in the joint tenancy deed or a written agreement of the parties. fn. 6 The 1983 statute purported to make section 4800.1 applicable in all cases "to the extent proceedings as to the division of the property are not yet final on January 1, 1984." (Stats. 1983, ch. 342, § 4, p. 1539.)

The adoption of CFC 4800.1, which by its clear language applied only in matters of marital dissolution or legal separation, and which, *a fortiori*, does not apply to the myriad of other situations where form of title may be relevant to the rights of third parties outside of a dissolution, created a sort of "hybrid estate" where joint tenancy retains its historic character as constituting two separate estates for some purposes and a unitary estate in dissolution matters. (*Case Western Law Review*, Vol 26 [1989] No. 1, Art. 2)

Thereafter, by virtue of the Family Law Act of 1992, Section

4800.1 was, itself, divided into two new sections. CFC 760 provides that:

Except as otherwise provided by statute, all property, real or personal, wherever situated, acquired by a married person during the marriage while domiciled in this state is community property.

The notes to the Law Revision Commission 1993 regarding this statute state that:

Section 760 restates the first part of former Civil Code Section 5110, and extends the definition of community property to include real property situated outside California.

The second section, CFC 2581 provides as follows:

For the purpose of division of property on dissolution of marriage or legal separation of the parties, property acquired by the parties during marriage in joint form, including property held in tenancy in common, joint tenancy, or tenancy by the entirety, or as community property, is presumed to be community property. This presumption is a presumption affecting the burden of proof and may be rebutted by either of the following:

- (a) A clear statement in the deed or other documentary evidence of title by which the property is acquired that the property is separate property and not community property.
- (b) Proof that the parties have made a written agreement that the property is separate property. (Cal Fam Code § 2581)

The Comments by the Law Revision Commission to this section provide that:

Section 2581 continues former Civil Code Section 4800.1(b) without substantive change. Section 2581 applies to all property acquired during marriage in joint form regardless of the date of acquisition. Section 2580 (legislative finding and declaration); *Marriage of Hilke*, 4 Cal. 4th 215, 841 P.2d 891, 14 Cal. Rptr. 2d 371 (1992).

A recurring circumstance in which joint tenancy property held by spouses has been examined outside the marital context is in the area of disposition on the death of one joint tenant. In its decision in Estate of Mitchell, 76 Cal. App. 4th 1378; 91 Cal. Rptr. 2d 192 (1999) (Petition for review denied), the Fourth Circuit Court of Appeal addressed the characterization of property held by spouses in joint tenancy upon the death of one spouse. In that case, after initiation of a dissolution, one spouse severed the joint tenancy on real property pursuant to Cal. Civil Code Section 683.2(a)(2) by unilaterally recording declarations of severance. Later, with the dissolution action pending, that spouse died. His surviving spouse claimed ownership of the properties pursuant to the right of survivorship in the joint tenancy. The court denied the respondent's claim finding that such action was not a violation of the "automatic stay" on transfer of community property and that severance did not violate the stay provisions of CFC 2040(a) or CFC 2045. It based its ruling on a

finding that such an action did not constitute a "transfer" nor a "disposition" of property.

The court in *Estate of Mitchell*, *supra*, noted that with respect to property held in joint tenancy between married persons:

A husband and wife may co-own property as joint tenants, tenants in common, or community property. (Fam. Code, § 750.) Property cannot be held both as community property and in either a joint tenancy or a tenancy in common at the same time. (See *Tomaier v. Tomaier* (1944) 23 Cal. 2d 754, 758 [146 P.2d 905] [joint tenancy]; see also Civ. Code, § 682.) Accordingly, each spouse's interest in a joint tenancy or a tenancy in common is his or her own separate property. (*Estate of Murray* (1982) 133 Cal. App. 3d 601, 604, fn. 3 [183 Cal. Rptr. 924] [tenancy in common]; *Meyer v. Thomas* (1940) 37 Cal. App. 2d 720, 723-724 [100 P.2d 360] [joint tenancy].) (*Estate of Mitchell*, supra at p.1385, 91 Cal. Rptr. 2d 192, 196-197)

The Court then went on to find that the presumption of community property under CFC 2581 applied only "for purposes of the division of property in a dissolution proceeding" and that prior to the entry of the judgment of dissolution this community property presumption does not apply". (*Estate of Mitchell, supra* at p. 1385, 1386). As a result, it reasoned, the severance of the joint tenancy prior to the entry of that judgment served to defeat the claim of survivorship, since property held as tenancy in common will be

divided equally between the surviving spouse and the estate of the deceased spouse. (*Estate of Mitchell*, supra at p.1386)

In so ruling, the court relied upon the decision of the 4th District Court of Appeals, in *Estate of Blair*, 199 Cal. App. 3d 161; 224 Cal. Rptr.627 (1988). Similar to the facts in *Estate of Mitchell*, supra, the court addressed the impact of former CFC section 4800.1 [now CFC 2581) to a situation wherein a spouse died during the pendency of a dissolution and the court was called upon to determine whether property titled in joint tenancy passed, by right of survivorship, to her estranged husband and joint tenant, or, instead, whether her community property interest enured to the benefit of her estate. After determining that the presumption arising from CFC 4800.1 was inapplicable outside of a dissolution action, the court turned instead to the statutory presumption of title. It found that:

For purposes of determining the character of real property on the death of one spouse, there is a presumption 'that the property is as described in the deed and the burden is on the party who seeks to rebut the presumption.' (*Shindler v. Schindler* (1954) 126 Cal. App. 2d 597, 602; 272 P. 2d 566).

Thus, the court ruled that:

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