IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

In re: CLIFFORD ALLEN BRACE, JR.	SUPREME COURT FILED
9th Cir. Case No. 17-60032	MAY 0 2 2019
CLIFFORD BRACE, JR. AND ANH BRACE,	Jorge Navarrete Cl erk
Appellants.	Deputy
v. STEVEN SPEIER, CHAPTER 7 TRUSTEE,	
Respondent,	•
ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS	<u> </u>

D. EDWARD HAYS, #162507 ehays@marshackhays.com JUDITH E. MARSHACK, #163871 jmarshack@marshackhays.com MARSHACK HAYS LLP 870 Roosevelt Irvine, California 92620 Telephone: (949) 333-7777

Attorneys for Respondent, Steven Speier, Chapter 7 Trustee

Facsimile: (949) 333-7778

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

E. In their Opening Brief, Appellants Continue to Ignore *Valli* and Contend that the Family Code Only Applies in the Context of a Marital Dissolution

Appellants now contend that the community property presumption applies only in a marital dissolution. They assert that the Bankruptcy Court erred in applying the community property presumption of Family Code § 760 instead of the record title presumption of Evidence Code § 662. They contend that Mr. and Mrs. Brace's interests in the Properties constituted equal, separate property interests. Therefore, when Respondent avoided Mr. Brace's fraudulent transfers, only his separate property interest constituted estate property.

Appellants' brief focuses primarily on cases involving the community property presumption that were decided prior to *Valli*. They contort the application of statutory construction, and essentially argue that Family Code § 760 should yield to Evidence Code § 662 simply because some pre-*Valli* cases reached that result. Their arguments, however, ignore this Court's holding in *Valli* and ignore the Legislature's specific application of the Family Code to the Civil Code and Code of Civil Procedure's definitions of property and creditor rights.

4. Legal Argument

In bankruptcy cases, all of a debtor's interests in property, including community property, become property of the bankruptcy estate. 11 U.S.C.

§ 541(a). The nature of a debtor's interest in property is determined by state law. *Butner v. United States*, 440 U.S. 48 (1979).

In *Valli*, this Court held that all property acquired during marriage is community property unless there is a valid transmutation. In reaching this result, this Court rejected the Ninth Circuit's reasoning in *Summers* that the form of title presumption set forth in Evidence Code § 662 could overcome the community property presumption.

In this case, the Bankruptcy Court and the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel followed *Valli* and held that the community property presumption of Family Code § 760 controls in determining the character of a debtor's interest in property. As a result, they determined that the Properties were owned by Mr. and Mrs. Brace were community property. To escape this result, Appellants ask this Court to restrict its holding in *Valli* to marital dissolution proceedings and follow *Summers* with respect to creditor rights.

Appellants offer various unavailing arguments in support of their position. First, they argue that the Bankruptcy Court and the Bankruptcy

⁹ 11 U.S.C. § 541 provides in relevant part:

⁽a) The commencement of a case under section 301, 302, or 303 of this title creates an estate. Such estate is comprised of all the following property, wherever located and by whomever held:

⁽¹⁾ Except as provided in subsections (b) and (c)(2) of this section, all legal or equitable interests of the debtor in property as of the commencement of the case.

⁽²⁾ All interests of the debtor and the debtor's spouse in community property as of the commencement of the case that is--

⁽A) under the sole, equal, or joint management and control of the debtor; or

⁽B) liable for an allowable claim against the debtor, or for both an allowable claim against the debtor and an allowable claim against the debtor's spouse, to the extent that such interest is so liable.

⁽³⁾ Any interest in property that the trustee recovers under section 329(b), 363(n), 543, 550, 553, or 723 of this title.

¹¹ U.S.C. §541.

Appellate Panel read *Valli* too broadly. They contend that, "A holding that CFC 760 with its presumption that all property acquired during marriage is community property, would destroy the historic protection of a non-debtor's spouse in joint tenancy property to the detriment of the non-debtor 'innocent spouse." AOB, Pg. 38.

Next, Appellants assert that the community property presumption only applies to disputes in marital dissolution proceedings and does not apply in any context outside of family court. To make the argument, Appellants ignore California statutory law that explicitly makes Family Code 760 applicable to areas of law beyond family law, including interests in property under the Civil Code¹⁰ and laws governing the enforcement of money judgments under the Code of Civil Procedure.¹¹

Appellants also ignore certain fundamentals of bankruptcy law, including that the trustee stands in the debtor's shoes and has all rights of the debtor in property. Notably, courts have repeatedly rejected the

Community property is property that is community property under Part 2 (commencing with Section 760) of Division 4 of the Family Code. Cal. Civ. Code §687 (Deering, Lexis Advance through Chapter 4 of the 2019 Regular Session).

¹⁰CCC §687 provides: Community property

¹¹ CCP §695.020 provides: Community property

⁽a) Community property is subject to enforcement of a money judgment as provided in the Family Code.

⁽b) Unless the provision or context otherwise requires, if community property that is subject to enforcement of a money judgment is sought to be applied to the satisfaction of a money judgment:

⁽¹⁾ Any provision of this division that applies to the property of the judgment debtor or to obligations owed to the judgment debtor also applies to the community property interest of the spouse of the judgment debtor and to obligations owed to the other spouse that are community property.

⁽²⁾ Any provision of this division that applies to property in the possession or under the control of the judgment debtor also applies to community property in the possession or under the control of the spouse of the judgment debtor. Cal. Civ. Proc. Code §695.020 (Deering, Lexis Advance through Chapter 4 of the 2019 Regular Session).

argument asserted by Appellants. *Brace*, 566 B.R. at 17; *Obedian*, 546 B.R. at 414-21; *Collins*, 2016 WL 4570413, at *5.

Appellants argue that *Summers* and *Valli* can be reconciled even though *Valli* rejected the reasoning in *Summers*. To make the argument, Appellants incorrectly contend that the Trustee is a third party. To the contrary, all of a debtor's rights in property become property of the bankruptcy estate and the bankruptcy trustee is the sole representative of the estate. In other words, a bankruptcy trustee stands in a debtor's shoes, and the bankruptcy estate's property rights are derivative of a debtor's rights.

Appellants express grave concern over the effect of a decision applying the community property presumption of Family Code 760 in probate proceedings, asserting that probate courts will be forced "to undertake the type of analysis predicated by Family Code § 760 and § 2581." As evident by the number of probate cases cited in Appellants' brief, the probate courts are already dealing with issues of the characterization of property, and a decision affirming the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel's decision will provide necessary clarification regarding the characterization of property rights in such cases.¹²

Appellants also incorrectly assert that affirming the Judgment would "obviate a body of law which, until now has been settled and subject the interest of innocent spouses to the debts of their spouses, and in the case of bankruptcy subject their one-half interest to administration by the bankruptcy court" As set forth below, the rights of debtor and non-debtor spouses in community and separate property would be unchanged.

¹² See, e.g., *In re Luke*, 194 Cal.App.3d 1006, 240 Cal.Rptr. 84 (1987) [property held in joint tenancy determined to be community property by probate court with decedent's interest passing to heirs pursuant intestate succession and not to surviving spouse pursuant to right of survivorship].

Community property is subject to payment of community claims and always has been. The only issue being decided is whether the Family Code governs determinations regarding the character of property acquired during marriage in the absence of a valid transmutation.

A. The Bankruptcy Appellate Panel and the Bankruptcy Court Correctly Concluded that Family Code § 760 Controls over Evidence Code § 662

Relying on Family Code § 760 and *Valli*, the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel affirmed the Bankruptcy Court's determination that the Properties constitute community property. Appellants claim that the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel erred. According to Appellants, because they acquired title to the Properties in joint tenancy, each spouse's joint tenancy interest constituted their separate property even though there was no valid transmutation. To reach this erroneous conclusion, Appellants ignore the teachings of *Valli*.

i. The Community Property Presumption

Under Family Code § 760, all property acquired during marriage is presumptively community property. To rebut this "strong presumption," a party must demonstrate "that another statute makes the property something other than community property." *In re Lewis*, 515 B.R. 591, 598 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2014) (*citing Valli*). The Law Revision Commission Comments regarding Family Code § 760 provide examples of the major exceptions to the general community property rule, stating in part:

Section 760 states the basic rule that all property acquired during marriage is community property unless it comes within a specified exception. The major exceptions to the basic community property rule are those relating to separate property. See, e.g., Sections 130 ("separate property" defined in Section 760 et seq.), 770 (separate property of married person), 771 (earnings and accumulations while living separate and apart), 772 (earnings and accumulations after judgment of legal separation), 781 (cases where damages for

personal injury are separate property). Section 760 is not an exclusive statement of property classified as community. See, e.g., Sections 761 (property in certain revocable trusts as community property), 780 (damages for personal injury to married person as community property). See also Sections 65 ("community property" defined in Section 760 et seq.), 802–803 (presumptions concerning nature of property), 850–853 (transmutation of property), 1500–1620 (marital property agreements).

Family Code § 760. (emphasis added).

In this case, it is undisputed that the Properties were acquired by Appellants during marriage while they were living in California. AER D, pgs 42-47; AER E, pgs. 63-64. Therefore, the Properties are presumptively community property. Cal. Family Code § 760. It was also undisputed that Appellants failed to adduce persuasive evidence that the Properties were anything other than community property. AER DD, pg. 754; GG, pgs. 914-917.

a. Valli Applies Outside of Dissolution Proceedings

As recognized by the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel, "Thus, after *Valli*, there is no doubt that the community property presumption controls in marital dissolution or separation proceedings." *Brace v. Speier (In re Brace)*, 566 B.R. 13, 19 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2017).

In its decision, the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel determined that California case law, principles of statutory construction, and public policy all support the conclusion that the community property presumption set forth in Family Code § 760 also applies to cases outside of marital dissolution proceedings.

b. California Law Explicitly Makes Family Code § 760 Applicable to the Laws Governing Creditors' Rights

The plain meaning of numerous statutes reflect the Legislature's intent to make the community presumption of Family Code § 760 applicable outside of marital dissolution proceedings. The Civil Code specifically provides that Family Code § 760 applies to defining general property rights under California law.

Community property is property that is community property under Part 2 (commencing with Section 760) of Division 4 of the Family Code.

Civil Code § 687 (Deering, Lexis Advance through Chapter 4 of the 2019 Regular Session) (Emphasis added).

Further, the Enforcement of Judgments Law specifically provides that the Family Code applies to determinations regarding what constitutes community property and the liability of such property for debts arising during marriage.

- (a) Community property is subject to enforcement of a money judgment as provided in the Family Code.
- (b) Unless the provision or context otherwise requires, if community property that is subject to enforcement of a money judgment is sought to be applied to the satisfaction of a money judgment:
- (1) Any provision of this division that applies to the property of the judgment debtor or to obligations owed to the judgment debtor also applies to the community property interest of the spouse of the judgment debtor and to obligations owed to the other spouse that are community property.
- (2) Any provision of this division that applies to property in the possession or under the control of the judgment debtor also applies to community property in the possession or under the control of the spouse of the judgment debtor.

Code of Civil Procedure § 695.020 (Deering, Lexis Advance through Chapter 4 of the 2019 Regular Session) (Emphasis added).¹³

Additionally, as discussed in *Brace*, Family Code §§ 851 and 852 demonstrate the Legislature's intent to make the community property presumption apply in disputes involving third parties with regard to fraudulent transfers (Family Code § 851) and notice requirements to third parties affecting the effectiveness of transmutations (Family Code § 852). Specifically, the Bankruptcy Appellate Panel stated:

"Moreover, two other provisions of the Family Code bolster the conclusion that the Legislature intended the community property presumption to apply in disputes with parties outside the marital couple: first, CFC §852 provides that a transmutation of real property is not effective as to third parties without notice unless it is recorded; and second, CFC §851 provides that "[a] transmutation is subject to the laws governing fraudulent transfers." These provisions presuppose that, as a general rule, third parties are entitled to rely on the community property presumption in transactions involving marital property.

Brace v. Speier (In re Brace), 566 B.R. 13, 24 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2017) (Emphasis added).

The Bankruptcy Appellate Panel then noted that Appellants' assertion that the community presumption applies only in the dissolution context is contradicted by the Law Revision Commission Comments to Family Code § 760:

"Comments to Family Code § 760, which reveal that the phrase "except as otherwise provided by statute" replaced specific statutory provisions enumerated in former Cal. Civ. Code § 5110, and that the "major exceptions to the basic community property rule are those relating to separate property" such as Family Code §§ 130 ("separate property" defined in Section 760 et seq.), 770 (separate property of married person), 771 (earnings and

¹³ Family Code § 910 provides that community property is liable for all debts that arose before or during marriage.

accumulations while living separate and apart), 772 (earnings and accumulations after judgment of legal separation), and 781 (cases where damages for personal injury are separate property). CFC § 760, L. Revision Comm'n Cmt. Notably, there is no mention of CFC § 2581 as a limitation on the community property presumption."

Brace v. Speier (In re Brace), 566 B.R. 13, 24-25 (B.A.P. 9th Cir. 2017)

The statutes referenced above and the Law Revision Commission Comments to Family Code § 760 reflect that the Legislature definitively intended for the community property presumption of Family Code § 760 to apply outside of divorces.

ii. Statutory Construction Supports the Application of Family Code § 760 Outside of Disputes between Spouses

The Bankruptcy Appellate Panel also specifically rejected Appellants' argument that statutory construction mandated that Family Code § 760 yield to Evidence Code § 662.

"A specific statutory provision does prevail over a general one relating to the same subject. Pac. Lumber Co. v. State Water Res. Control Bd., 37 Cal. 4th 921, 942, 38 Cal. Rptr. 3d 220, 126 P.3d 1040 (2006). However, this canon of statutory construction actually supports the conclusion that the community property presumption prevails over the title presumption. See Valli, 58 Cal. 4th at 1412-13 (Chin, J., concurring) ("[T]he [community property] presumption is a specific statutory presumption found within California's community property law, not the more general presumption found in section 662."). The concurrence also noted that CFC §§760 and 2581 are not in conflict: CFC §760 is the "familiar presumption that property acquired during marriage is community property," while CFC § 2581 "is a presumption, found in a statute within the community property law and fully consistent with the general presumption, that specifically governs real property designated as joint tenancy. . . . Both of these presumptions favor a finding of community property, and thus they are compatible." Id. at 1412. Moreover, if the community

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